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Cenversa’s Vision
Cenversa is totally dedicated to enriching 

people’s lives by supporting the wellness of animals 

and pets. We aim to be the leading provider of 

products and services for the animal health 

and pet industry through innovation and 

flexible value-added supply solutions.
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IMPORTANT
NOTICE
This Offer Document has been prepared to provide 
information on Cenversa Limited (Cenversa or Company) 
to Eligible Investors who have been invited to subscribe for 
fully paid ordinary shares in the Company.

As is common with all investments there are risks associated 
with this investment which should be considered by you.

Some of those risks are detailed in this Offer Document. 
You should read this document in its entirety and obtain 
professional investment advice before accepting the Offer 
and participating in the Bonus Offer.

This Offer Document is dated 20 December 2019.

This Offer Document expires on 30 November 2020 (Expiry 
Date). No Shares will be issued on the basis of this Offer 
Document after the Expiry Date.

This is not a prospectus
This document is not a prospectus. It has a lower level of 
disclosure requirements than a prospectus.

Personal circumstances
The information given in this Offer Document is of a 
general nature and has been prepared without taking into 
account your individual investment objectives, financial 
situation or particular investment needs. Before making an 
investment decision on the basis of this Offer, you should 
consider the appropriateness of the information having 
regard to your objectives, financial situation and needs. If 
you have questions about any of the matters contained in 
this Offer Document you should contact your legal adviser, 
stockbroker, accountant or other relevant adviser.

Forward looking statements
Any forward looking statements contained in this Offer 
Document are not guarantees or predictions of future 
performance, and involve known and unknown risks, 
uncertainties and other factors, including the risks set out in 
section 8, many of which are beyond the Company’s control, 
and which may cause actual results to differ materially 
from those expressed in the statements contained in this 
Offer Document. You should not place undue reliance 
on these forward-looking statements. These forward- 
looking statements are based on information available to 
the Company as of the date of this document. Except as 
required by law or regulation, the Company undertakes no 
obligation to update these forward-looking statements.

No authorisation
No person is authorised to give any information or to 
make any representation in connection with the Offer, 
Bonus Offer or shares described in this document which 
is not contained in this document. Any information or 
representation not contained in this Offer Document may 
not be relied on as having been authorised by the Company 
in connection with the Offer or Bonus Offer. Except as 
required by law and only to the extent required by law, 
neither the Company nor any other person warrants the 
future performance of the Company nor any return on any 
investment made under this Offer.

Disclaimer
The distribution of this Offer Document in any jurisdiction 
other than Australia may be restricted by law. This Offer 
Document does not constitute an offer in any jurisdiction 
or to any person if that offer would be unlawful. Persons 
who come into possession of this Offer Document should 
seek advice on and observe any restrictions on accepting 
an offer or distributing the Offer Document. Any failure    
to comply with restrictions may constitute a violation of 
applicable securities laws.

More Information
If you have any question about this Offer Information Statement, please contact one of the Cenversa Representatives 
listed in the below table.

NAME POSITION TELEPHONE EMAIL ADDRESS

Lionel Bloom CEO 0417 204 486 lionel.bloom@cenversa.com.au

Tracey West Company Secretary 02 9679 5700 shareholders@cenversa.com.au
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LETTER FROM 
THE CHAIRMAN

Dear Investor,

I am pleased to share this Offer Information 
Statement (OIS) with you, which outlines 
an opportunity for you to acquire shares 
in Cenversa Limited (Cenversa), a leading 
provider of products and services to the 
Australian veterinary market and the retail pet 
product sector. 

Cenversa’s strategic initiatives to augment 
the company’s traditional revenue streams by 
acquiring allied businesses and veterinarian 
hospitals and mitigate supply chain risk 
through the development exclusive brands 
and agency lines have delivered impressive 
results. The group’s unaudited Q1 FY20 results 
demonstrate: 

• operating profit up 76.5% compared to Q1 
FY19.

• Gross profit growing 12.4% on the same 
period last year.

• EBITDA up 45.1% compared with Q1 FY19 
results.

To further fund its strategic initiatives and 
prepare the company for a possible trade sale 
or initial public offering (IPO) by late 2022, 
Cenversa wishes to raise up to $5,000,000 
from this offer. 

Changing attitudes to pet ownership and an 
increased awareness of animal health issues, 
are driving a positive outlook the animal health 
sector, with annual growth rates expected to 
be in the region of 2.5% - 3.0% over the next 
five years.  An investment in Cenversa aims to 
capitalise on this growth being supported by 
strong business fundamentals including: 

• a well-established and profitable company 
with a proven track record of delivering 
market leading customer service across 
Australia since 1960.

• a customer/shareholder co-operative 
model, with 295 shareholders, nearly all of 
which are Cenversa customers, committed 
to the future growth and success of the 
company.

• a diversified business with established 
revenue streams from investments 
in veterinarian hospital, a traditional 
wholesaling business and an expanding 
range of exclusive brands and agency lines.

The following Offer Document contains 
information about Cenversa and the risks 
associated with an investment in the business. 
We encourage you to read the Offer Document 
in its entirety and seek independent advice 
from your accountant or financial advisor 
before deciding to invest in Cenversa. 
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To apply for Shares, please fill out and lodge 
the Application Form accompanying this 
Offer Document.  If you have any questions 
about this Offer, please contact a Cenversa 
representative listed on page 63.

Yours faithfully, 
Cenversa Ltd.

Lionel Bloom  B.Com, GAICD 
Chairman
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1. Veterinary Services in Australia, IBISWorld Industry Report M6970, September 2019; Pets and Pet Supplies Retailers in Australia IBISWorld Industry Report OD5128, December 2019.

BUSINESS
OVERVIEW

2.2.  Corporate and Operational  
 Structure
The Cenversa Group has over 173 
permanent full and part time staff and has 
arrangements with approximately 1,480 
veterinary clinics and 1,900 pet stores 
and retail outlets. The business model 
also involves the importation of exclusive 
agency lines and Cenversa Group branded 
products through Cenversa’s wholly owned 
Subsidiaries.

In 2015, Cenvet Veterinary Hospital Pty 
Ltd (CVH), a wholly-owned Subsidiary of 
Cenversa, was established to acquire equity 
interests veterinary clinics. A key objective 
of CVH is to support the next generation of 
veterinarians manage and grow their own 
practices.

CVH or related entities currently own 
interests in 12 hospitals located in New 
South Wales, Victoria and Queensland with 
several in the pipeline for 2020. 

Today, Cenversa’s corporate and operational 
structure consists of eight (8) trading 
business units, supported by one support 
business unit. Each business unit is a wholly 
owned subsidiary of Cenversa. Cenversa’s 
corporate and operational structure is shown 
diagrammatically right.
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2.1.  Background
Cenversa Limited ACN 092 375 221 is an Australian unlisted public company. Cenversa is a leading national distributor 
of products and service solutions in the animal health and pet retail industry. The Cenversa Group purchases products 
from wholesale manufacturers and on-sells these to veterinarians, pet retail specialists, animal health professionals and 
pet owners.

These markets combined (at a retail level), generate annual revenues of approximately $6.5Bn1 excluding pet product 
sales in the grocery / supermarket segment.

The Australian veterinary market and retail pet product sector are forecast to deliver annual growth between 2020 and 
2025 of 2.5% and 3.1% respectively. This growth is expected to build upon the industry trends over the past decade, 
including: 

• increased awareness of animal health issues, resulting in an increased willingness to acquire higher value 
elective procedures including diagnostic and surgical procedures and increased demand for new procedures, 
pharmaceutical products and premium pet products;

• changing demographics and increased urbanisation leading to a shift towards medium and high-density housing 
encouraging a move towards smaller breeds, particularly in relation to dogs. Smaller breeds of pets generally live 
longer and require a greater level of veterinary care as they mature; and

• changing attitudes towards pets (ie. treating the pet as part of the family), which results in increased demand for 
relatively new products and services such as pampering services and traditionally human services such as burials.
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BUSINESS
OVERVIEW

2.3 Current Shareholdings
The Company has 79,687,427 ordinary shares on issue as at 20 December 2019. The Company’s Chief Executive 
Officer, either directly or through related parties holds 64,509,519 (81.0%) ordinary shares on issue as at 20 December 
2019.

As at 20 December 2019, the Company has granted no options to staff and contractors in relation to a Board approved 
share option plan(s).

2.4 Dividend History
Cenversa’s current operations are profitable and cash positive. Since becoming a public company and establishing the 
customer / co-op model in FY14 an annual dividend has been paid.

* A dividend of 2.2c per share was declared in December 2019 and payable in February 2020.
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2.5 Strategic Goals & Initiatives

Whilst the Directors believe that the future initiatives described below will contribute to increased revenue, 
improved profitability and the maximisation of shareholder value, there can be no certainty that all of these 
expectations, including a trade sale or initial public offering, can be achieved and accordingly Investors are 
referred to the paragraph headed “Future Prospects and Performance”, included in the RISK FACTORS section 
commencing on page 13 of this Offer Document. 

In 2019, the Cenversa board announced that it would explore the possibility of a trade sale or initial public offering over 
the next 3-5 years.  In preparing for such an event, the board will focus on following medium term goals for the Company:

1. DEVELOPING NEW PROPRIETARY PRODUCTS & DELIVERY SYSTEMS

 The development or introduction of new exclusive products and services to our existing businesses.  This 
initiative will aim to generate strong revenue streams for our customers and shareholders, as well as mitigate 
potential supply risk.

2. EXPAND THE EXISTING HOSPITAL PORTFOLIO & NEXTGEN VET MODEL

 Continue investing in profitable, well established hospitals in partnership with customers and the next generation 
of veterinarians. 

3. STRATEGIC ACQUISITIONS

 Strategic acquisitions of allied businesses and competitors to expand into new markets, reduce competition, 
acquire key employees and reduce potential supply risk.

BUSINESS
OVERVIEW
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FINANCIAL
INFORMATION

3.1. Audited Financial Statements
Audited financial statements for the period ending 30 June 2019 have been included in section 11 to this Offer Document.

3.2. Underlying EBITDA
In 2013, Cenversa became an unlisted public company and adopted a co-operative shareholder model. A summary of the 
Cenversa’s underlying EBITDA growth between 1 July 2014 and 30 June 2019 is outlined in the graph below:

3.4. FY20 Year-to-Date Financial Performance
A summary of the Company’s year-to-date performance for the period 1 July 2019 to 31 October 2019, including a 
comparison with the corresponding FY19 period, is outlined in the table below:

Please note: past results cannot necessarily be taken to be indicative of future performance. Cenversa recommends that you consult your legal and 
financial advisers before investing.

Key Performance 
Indicator (KPI)

FY19 Year-to-date (YTD) 
(unaudited) performance 
as at 31 October 2018

FY20 Year-to-date (YTD) 
(unaudited) performance 
as at 31 October 2019

YTD KPI 
Improvement 
Comparison

Revenue $50.068m $51.924m +3.71%

Gross Profit $7.401m $8.731m +17.98%

EBITDA $1.568m  $1.849m +17.94%

*Underlying EBITDA - Earnings before tax, depreciation, and amortisation and acquisition costs associated with veterinary practices.
1 Minority equity interests in veterinary practices account for $320,000.
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3.3 Overcoming FY19 challenges
In September 2018, Zoetis Australia, a large supplier to the group, notified the company that from 1 November 2018, 
companion animal and equine products manufactured and marketed by Zoetis would no longer be distributed to veterinarians 
and pet retailers through animal health distributors such as Cenversa. Zoetis products generated represented approximately 
7% of Cenversa’s consolidated gross profit.

Cenversa’s strategic initiatives to augment the company’s traditional revenue streams by acquiring allied businesses 
and veterinarian hospitals and mitigate supply chain risk through the development exclusive brands and agency lines, 
minimised the impact of the Zoetis decision on the group’s profitability.  Despite a 3.32% reduction in gross sales revenue 
in FY19 attributed to the Zoetis decision, the group’s gross profit markedly increased by 1.73% over the same period. The 
FY19 results demonstrating the company’s ability to mitigate supply risk whilst continuing to deliver strong results for all 
stakeholders. The positive impact of Cenversa’s robust strategic plan continues to have a significant impact of the company’s 
FY20 results. 
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INVESTMENT OVERVIEW
THE OFFER

4.1  Terms of the Offer
Cenversa is pleased to invite existing and future 
shareholders (Eligible Investors) to subscribe for fully paid 
ordinary shares (Shares) on the terms set out in this Offer 
Document (Offer). The Offer is not underwritten.

The Company wishes to issue Shares at 80 cents per Share 
to raise up to $5,000,000. Should applications from Eligible 
Investors exceed $5,000,000 the Directors reserve the right 
to reject or reduce applications as they see fit.

All Shares issued pursuant to applications made under the 
Offer described in this section will rank equally with existing 
fully paid ordinary shares, with the rights attached as set 
out in the Constitution (a copy Cenversa’s constitution may 
be downloaded from Cenversa’s website at www.cenversa.
com.au).

In particular, each Share will confer on each holder:

• a right to attend, speak and vote at meetings of the 
Company (each shareholder has the right to one vote 
on a show of hands and each Share one vote on a poll);

• a right to any dividend on equal terms with other holders 
of ordinary shares; and

• a right to a proportional share of any surplus assets on 
the winding up of the Company.

As at the date of this Offer Document, there are a total of 
79,687,427 shares on issue. As at 20 December 2019, the 
Company has granted no options to staff and contractors in 
relation to a Board approved share option plan(s).

The minimum number of Shares for which an Eligible 
Investor may subscribe is 5,000 Shares and thereafter    in 
multiples of 5,000 additional Shares. The Directors, in their 
absolute discretion, may allocate a lesser number of Shares 
than the number for which an Eligible Investor has applied.

This Offer Document sets out the information which the 
Company considers relevant to a decision as to whether 
to invest in the Company including its audited financial 
statements for the financial year ended 30 June 2019 
(attached in section 11).

Please note that past results cannot necessarily be taken 
to be indicative of future performance and Cenversa 
recommends that you consult your legal and financial 
advisers before investing.

4.2  Use of Funds
The funds raised will support the purchase of veterinary 
practices, equity purchases in allied businesses and to 
further develop product ranges as well as online home 
delivery systems to help grow the total business for all 
stakeholders including shareholders, customers and 
employees.

4.3  Key Dates
Offer Opens
4.00pm AEST 20 December 2019 (Opening Date)

Offer Closes
4.00pm AEST 30 November 2020 (Closing Date)

The Company reserves the right to vary the Closing Date 
of the Offer.

4.4  Acceptances
Should you wish to proceed with an application for 
Shares in Cenversa, please complete the application 
form accompanying this Offer Document (Application 
Form) and forward it to Cenversa’s registered office. All 
Application Forms will need to be completed and the 
application money received (by way of cheque, credit 
card (Visa or Mastercard) or EFT payment as specified in 
the Application Form) by the Closing Date.

Application Forms may be submitted at any time following 
the circulation of this Offer Document.

There is no brokerage, commission or stamp duty 
payable in respect of the application for Shares pursuant 
to this Offer.

4.5  Allocation of Shares
The Board reserves the absolute right to accept or reject 
any application in part or full for a period of up to 90 
days from the date that a completed application form is 
received by Cenversa Ltd. If the application for shares is 
accepted in part or full then the allotment date will be the 
date the shares are allotted by Cenversa Ltd and not the 
date the Application Monies were received. To the extent 
that Shares applied for are not allotted, any application 
money will be promptly refunded.

CENVERSA IS PLEASED TO INVITE CERTAIN EXISTING AND FUTURE 

SHAREHOLDERS TO SUBSCRIBE FOR FULLY PAID ORDINARY SHARES 

ON THE TERMS SET OUT IN THIS OFFER.
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5.1  Introduction and eligibility to    
  participate in 20% Bonus Offer
An incentive is being made available under this Offer to 
Eligible Investors who reside in Australia (Bonus Offer 
Applicants). Each Bonus Offer Applicant may participate 
in a further offer to acquire one Bonus Share (the terms 
and conditions of which are set out below) under this 
Offer (Bonus Offer). Providing the conversion criteria 
in section 5.5 or 5.6 below are met, each Bonus Share 
will convert into two (2) ordinary shares for every ten 
(10) ordinary shares subscribed for by the Bonus Share 
Applicant under the Offer in Section 4 of this Offer 
Document.

Eligible Investors should tick the relevant box in the 
Application Form if they satisfy either 1 or 2 of the following 
participation criterias:

1. Annual Practice Purchase. Eligible investors that 
are existing or potential customers of Cenversa and/
or its Subsidiaries and wish to participate in the offer 
of Bonus Shares under this Offer (see Paragraph 5.3)

 Or

2. Large Share Subscription. They wish to subscribe 
for a minimum of 200,000 Ordinary shares and wish 
to participate in the offer of Bonus Shares under this 
Offer (see Paragraph 5.6)

5.2  Rights Attaching to Each Bonus Share
5.2.1. Each Bonus Share will have no right to attend,   
  speak or vote at meetings of the Company, no   
  right to any dividend or other distribution   
  of income and no right to any distribution out of   
  any surplus assets on the winding up of    
  the Company other than $1.00 per Bonus   
  Share after all capital has been paid on ordinary  
  shares in accordance with the Constitution.

TO REWARD CUSTOMER LOYALTY AND LARGE SHARE SUBSCRIPTIONS, 

CENVERSA IS OFFERING DEFERRED BONUS SHARES WHICH ARE 

CONVERTIBLE INTO ORDINARY SHARES ON A 2 FOR 10 BASIS*.

BONUS
SHARE OFFER * subject to satisfaction of conditions

5.2.2. However, subject to satisfaction of each Bonus 
Offer Applicant’s conversion conditions  
(considered in Section 5.5 and 5.6 below), each 
Bonus Share will convert into two (2) ordinary 
shares for every ten (10) ordinary shares sub-
scribed for by the Bonus Share Applicant under 
the Offer in Section 4 of this Offer Document. 
Each Conversion Share will rank equally with the 
then existing fully paid ordinary shares.

5.3  Performance targets to be Included in  
 Conversion Condition for Investors   
 wishing to participate in the Bonus   
 Share offer under  the Annual Practice  
 Purchase criteria
Within 60 Business Days of the date on which the 
Application for Shares is received under this Offer, 
Cenversa will seek to agree with each Eligible Investor 
who wished to apply as a Bonus Offer Applicant under the 
Annual Practice Purchase criteria, a minimum monthly 
target (expressed as an amount excluding GST) for 
product purchases from Cenversa and its Subsidiaries 
by that Bonus Offer Applicant (Monthly Purchase 
Target). Without limiting the ways in which each Monthly 
Purchase Target will be negotiated and agreed between 
the parties, Cenversa would expect, during the period of 
three years from the date the Monthly Purchase Target is 
set (Measurement Period), to fulfill at least 75% of each 
Bonus Offer Applicant’s requirements for veterinary and 
pet care products of the type supplied by Cenversa.

If Cenversa and a Bonus Offer Applicant are unable to 
agree the relevant Monthly Purchase Target before 30 
November 2020, then that Bonus Offer Applicant will 
cease to be entitled to a Bonus Share and will not be 
entitled to compensation as a result. This will not affect 
that Bonus Offer Applicant’s entitlement to Shares under 
the Offer in Section 4 of this Offer Document  (and 
its obligation to complete a subscription for Shares 
already applied for under this Offer). For each Bonus 
Offer Applicant with which Cenversa agrees a Monthly 
Purchase Target before 30 November 2020, Cenversa 
will issue and allot one Bonus Share to that Bonus Offer 
Applicant promptly after that date.
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BONUS
SHARE OFFER

5.4 Notification of Actual Performance

Within 60 Business Days of the end of the Measurement 
Period applicable to a Bonus Offer Applicant, Cenversa 
will send to each Bonus Offer Applicant participating in the 
Bonus Offer under the Annual Practice Purchase criteria 
a notice confirming the total aggregate value (excluding 
GST) of purchases by that Bonus Offer Applicant from 
Cenversa and its Subsidiaries during the Measurement 
Period (Total Actual Purchased Amount). Cenversa 
(acting reasonably and in good faith) may adjust the 
Total Actual Purchased Amount in any given case to 
allow for refunds and order reversals relating to product 
ordered during the Measurement Period, but affected 
by a return or an order reversal (whether before or after 
the Measurement Period). In the absence of manifest 
error, Cenversa’s determination of Total Actual Purchased 
Amount in any given case will be final and not susceptible 
to challenge.

5.5  Entitlement to Ordinary Shares Upon   
 Conversion
If a Bonus Offer Applicant applying for Bonus Shares 
under the Annual Practice purchase criteria satisfies each 
of the following conditions:

5.5.1. their average monthly product purchases from 
the Cenversa Group during the Measurement 
Period is greater than the relevant Monthly 
Purchase Target; and

5.5.2. as at 5pm (Sydney time) on the final day of the 
Measurement Period, they hold at least the same 
number of ordinary shares in the Company as 
was issued to them pursuant to the Offer under 
Section 4 of this Offer Document, then their 
Bonus Share will automatically convert into a 
number of Conversion Shares determined in 
accordance with paragraph 5.2.2 above.

5.6  A hold period in Conversion Condition  
 for Investors wishing to participate in  
 the Bonus Share offer under the Large  
 Share Subscription criteria
For each successful Bonus Offer Applicant applying 
for Shares under the Large Share Subscription criteria, 
Cenversa will issue and allot one Bonus Share to that 
Bonus Offer Applicant promptly after that application is 
received.

If after 36 months from the date of issue, a Bonus Offer 
Applicant that applied for Bonus Shares under the Large 
Subscription criteria holds at least the same number 
of ordinary shares in the Company as was issued to 
them pursuant to the Offer under Section 4 of this Offer 

Document, then their Bonus Share will automatically 
convert into a number of Conversion Shares determined 
in accordance with paragraph 5.2.2 above.

5.7 Conversion Shares
Based on the subscription proceeds of $5,000,000 under 
the Offer (at 80 cents per Share), the maximum number 
of Conversion Shares into which Bonus Shares issued 
under the Bonus Offer will convert is 1,250,000. Whilst  
no additional funds are being raised from the issue of the 
Bonus Shares (including their conversion into Conversion 
Shares), the maximum notional value of the Conversion 
Shares, at a notional subscription amount of $0.80 per 
Conversion Share, will be $1,000,000. Note the value of 
securities can go down as well as up, over time. Refer to 
Section 8 of this Offer Document (Risk Factors).

By way of example, if a Bonus Offer Applicant subscribes 
for 10,000 Shares under the Offer and satisfies the 
conversion conditions described above, then their Bonus 
Share will convert into 2,000 Conversion Shares.

If a Bonus Offer Applicant fails to satisfy the conversion 
conditions described above, then its Bonus Share will 
not convert. In that situation, the Bonus Offer Applicant 
would continue to hold a single Bonus Share (subject to 
the rights and qualifications described in paragraph 5.2.1 
above) indefinitely.

Excluding supplier price increases and/or CPI increases, 
the price paid for products by Bonus Offer Applicants 
applying under the Annual Practice Purchase criteria will 
be subject to at least the same pricing terms that they 
currently receive from their supplier(s) 30 days prior to the 
commencement of the Measurement Period.

5.8 Early Entitlement to Conversion   
 Shares
In the event that Cenversa Ltd lists on a recognised 
Australian securities exchange or completes a trade 
sale prior to 30 November 2023 then such an event will 
immediately cause the company to convert all Bonus 
Shares issued under the Offer Information Statement 
dated 20 December 2019 to Conversion Shares provided 
that the Bonus Offer Applicant holds at least the same 
number of ordinary shares in the Company as was 
issued pursuant to the Offer under Section 4 of this 
Offer Document. The conversion of Bonus Shares to 
Conversion Shares will take place at least 2 working days 
prior to the listing on a recognised Australian securities 
exchange or the completion of a trade sale.
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RISK
FACTORS

government fiscal, monetary and regulatory policies. Any 
prolonged deterioration in general economic conditions 
may discourage people from introducing pets into their 
household which may reduce the demand for pet products 
and services. Additionally, existing pet owners may spend 
less on their pets, which would reduce the demand for pet 
products and services.

6.4.  Acquisitions and Investments
The Company intends to assess and from time to time 
consider making strategic acquisitions or investments 
in businesses or services which are allied to or 
compatible with the Company’s business activities. In 
such circumstances it may become necessary to raise 
additional capital, in the form of issuing additional shares 
in the Company and/or borrowing additional funds, to 
finance such acquisitions and investments. The issue of 
additional shares would result in a corresponding dilution 
in the percentage holding of the Company’s shareholders. 
Increases in the Company’s debt levels may increase the 
overall risk profile of your investment in the Company. The 
success or failure of any such acquisitions or investments 
cannot be determined or assessed in advance.

Further conversion of Bonus Shares will result in dilution 
of the shareholding of those not participating in the Bonus 
Offer or failing to meet the conditions for the conversion of 
Bonus Shares.

The Directors may also consider the introduction of one 
or more significant investors who may potentially become 
involved in the Company either as a shareholder and/or 
in a participating role. If such an investment eventuates, it 
may be by way of a transfer of shares by the Company’s 
controlling shareholders (resulting in a diminution in their 
level of control) or an issue of additional shares.

6.5.  Supply Risk
There is a risk that the supply of stock to the Company 
is interrupted, delayed or may completely cease. This 
may occur for a variety of reasons including manufacturer 
issues, changes to distribution agreements or quarantine 
restrictions. If this occurs, particularly in relation to the 
Company’s key product lines, there could be a material 
adverse impact on the Company’s operating and financial 
performance.

As with any investment, there are risks involved with 
an investment in Cenversa. The Directors strongly 
recommend potential investors consider the risk factors 
described below, together with information contained 
elsewhere in this Offer Document, having regard to their 
own investment objectives and financial circumstances 
and consult their professional adviser(s), before deciding 
whether to apply for shares pursuant to this Offer.

There are specific risks which relate directly to Cenversa. 
In addition, there are other general risks, many of which 
are largely beyond the control of the Directors. The risks 
identified in this section, or other risk factors, may have a 
material impact on the financial performance of Cenversa 
and/or the value of an investment in Cenversa.

The factors detailed below should not be taken as an 
exhaustive list of all possible risks. Additional risks and 
uncertainties not presently known to the Directors may 
also have an adverse effect upon the Company.

6.1.  Future Prospects and Performance
There are a number of statements made in this Offer 
Document about the Company’s future expectations and 
performance, including its financial performance. Whilst 
the Company’s management and its Directors believe that 
there are good reasons to expect and to look forward to 
positive future outcomes, there can be no certainty that 
this will eventuate or that the results foreshadowed will 
necessarily be achieved.

6.2.  Unlisted Shares
Investments in shares which are not traded on an 
exchange involve a higher degree of risk and are less 
liquid than investment in companies whose shares are 
listed. As such, an investment in the Company may be 
difficult to realise.

The value of the Shares may go down as well as up and 
may not reflect the underlying value of the Company. 
Potential investors may have only a limited opportunity 
to sell their Shares and may therefore have to bear the 
economic risk of holding their investment for an indefinite 
period of time.

6.3.  General Economic Conditions
The Company’s operating and financial performance is 
influenced by a variety of general economic conditions 
including the level of inflation, interest rates, exchange 
rates, taxation rates, industrial disputes, changes to 
applicable laws and accounting/auditing practices and 
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In some circumstances, the Company may not be in a 
position to pass on price increases caused by adverse 
exchange rate fluctuations.

 6.12. Regulation and Legal Issues

The Company’s business is subject to a number 
of regulatory requirements. Changes in the laws, 
regulations, government policy and administration 
regimes, may adversely affect the Company.

6.13. Tax
A change to the current taxation regime in Australia 
may affect Cenversa and its shareholders. Personal 
tax liabilities are the responsibility of each individual 
shareholder.

6.14. Sufficiency of Funding
The Directors expect that the proceeds of the Offer will 
provide sufficient resources to enable the Company to 
achieve its medium term business objectives. However, 
the Directors can give no assurances that there will 
be no future borrowings or further capital raisings. The 
availability of capital and the terms of such capital raisings 
are not known at this time.

6.15. Insurance
The Company maintains insurance policies covering 
its usual business risks. There are, however, some 
losses, such as from floods and earthquakes or other 
unforeseen circumstances, that are generally not insured 
at replacement cost or that are insured subject to large 
deductibles. The availability of on- going insurance will be 
dependent upon a number of factors such as continued 
availability of coverage, the nature of risks to be covered, 
the extent of the proposed coverage and costs involved.

6.16. Legal Action
Cenversa is not aware of any material legal claims 
against it or grounds for making of any such claim. 
However, there is always the possibility of legal 
proceedings involving the Company or which may be 
related to the supply of its products. Litigation or disputes 
may adversely affect the profitability of the Company, the 
value of its assets, or the value of its assets, or the value 
of its shares.

6.6.  Information Technology and Logistics  
 System Risk
There is a risk that there are issues with the proprietary 
logistics system that controls the Company’s inventory 
management, ordering and distribution to customers. If 
there is a malfunction in the logistics system, there could 
be a material adverse impact on the Company’s operating 
and financial performance.

6.7. Operating Cost Variation Risk
The Company is also exposed to the risk of variations in 
operating costs including staff salaries, wages, rental and 
other variables.

6.8. Key Employees
The Company’s success will depend largely on the 
expertise of the Directors and the executive management 
team. The retention of their services cannot be 
guaranteed. The loss of key personnel could impact on 
the performance of the Company.

6.9. Competition
There is always the risk of increased competition from 
other product and service providers. There can be no 
assurance that the actions of these competitors including 
heavy discounting to increase market share or changes in 
customer choice will not adversely affect the Company’s 
performance.

It is also possible that new competitors will enter 
the industry and this also may adversely affect the 
Company’s performance.

6.10. Customer Consolidation Risk
There is a risk that customers may merge or consolidate. 
In an environment of customer consolidation, there is a 
risk that the Company’s customers will have an increased 
ability to influence trading terms with the Company, which 
may adversely affect the Company’s performance.

Additionally, some customers may choose to source and 
warehouse product themselves (including developing their 
own private label products) if they achieve sufficient scale. 
This may result in reduced business for the Company, 
which may adversely affect its performance.

6.11. Exchange Rate Fluctuations
The Company may be affected by exchange rate 
fluctuations that may influence the price of its products. 

RISK
FACTORS



2020 Cenversa Share Offer and Bonus Share Offer 15

Each of the Directors of Cenversa have given their consent and have not withdrawn their consent before the date of this 
Offer Document, to the issue of this Offer Document.

None of the parties referred to below has made the Offer or the Bonus Offer, nor have they made any statement that is 
included in this Offer Document or any statement on which a statement made in this Offer Document is based, except as 
specified below. Each of the parties referred to below, to the maximum extent permitted by law, expressly disclaims, and 
takes no responsibility for, any part of this Offer Document, other than the reference to its name and a statement included 
in this Offer Document with the consent of that party, as specified below:

• The Auditor of Cenversa has given its consent, and has not withdrawn its consent before the date of this Offer 
Document, to the inclusion in this Offer Document of their report on the financial statements for the year ended 30 
June 2019.

Lionel Bloom
Director

Jason Phillips
Director

CONSENT
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GLOSSARY

AEST means Australian Eastern Standard Time.

Application Form means the application form attached 
as Appendix B.

ASIC means the Australian Securities and Investments 
Commission.

Auditor means CIB Accountants and Advisers of Suite 6, 
5-7 Ross Street, Parramatta NSW 2150.

Board means the board of directors of the Company from 
time to time.

Bonus Offer has the meaning given in section 5.

Bonus Offer Applicant has the meaning given in section 
5.

Bonus Share means a bonus share of the Company, the 
terms and conditions of which are set out in section 5.

Business Day means Monday through Friday excluding 
national public holidays.

Cenversa means Cenversa Limited ACN 092 375 221.

Cenversa Group means the Company and its wholly-
owned Subsidiaries from time to time.

Closing Date has the meaning given in section 4.3. 

Company means Cenversa Limited ACN 092 375 221. 

Constitution means the constitution of the Company.

Conversion Share means an ordinary share (resulting 
from conversion of a Bonus Share), the terms and 
conditions of which are set out in section 5.2.2.

Corporations Act means Corporations Act 2001 (Cth).

CVH means Cenvet Veterinary Hospital Pty Ltd ACN 163 
164 636.

Director means a director of the Company from time to 
time. 

Eligible Investors has the meaning given in section 4.1

Eligible Investors means existing and future customers 
of Cenversa

Expiry Date means offer expires 30 November 2020.

Group means the Cenversa Group.

Measurement Period has the meaning given in section 
5.

Minimum Acceptance Conditions has the meaning 
given in section 4.1.

Monthly Purchase Target has the meaning given in 
section 5. 

Offer has the meaning given in section 4.1.

Offer Document means this Offer Information 
Statement.

Opening Date has the meaning given in section 4.3.

Shares has the meaning given in section 4.1.

Subsidiary has the meaning given in the Corporations 
Act.

Total Actual Purchased Amount has the meaning 
given in section 5.

VCA means Veterinary Companies of Australia Pty Ltd 
ACN 158 887 828
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AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION 
UNDER S 307C OF THE CORPORATIONS ACT 2001 

TO THE DIRECTORS OF CENVERSA LIMITED 

I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, during the year ended 30 June 2019 there have been 
no contraventions of: 

i. the auditor independence requirements as set out in the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; 
and 

ii. any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

CIB ACCOUNTANTS & ADVISERS 

Chartered Accountants 

RADLEE MOLLER 

Partner  

Dated this 24th day of October 2019 

Parramatta, NSW 

Penrith
A     Suite 12, 308 High Street  

Penrith NSW Australia 2750
P    PO Box 1142 Penrith  

NSW Australia 2751
t +61 2 4721 6000 
F +61 2 4722 9208

CiB LEADING ACCOUNTANTS &
BUSINESS ADVISERS

PArrAmAttA
A    Suite 6, 5-7 Ross Street 

Parramatta NSW Australia 2150
P    PO Box 2492 North Parramatta 

NSW Australia 1750
t +61 2 9683 5999  
F +61 2 9683 6313

Sydney
A  Level 11, 56 Pitt Street  

Sydney NSW Australia 2000
P  GPO Box 4735 Sydney  

NSW Australia 2001
t +61 2 9249 7400 
F +61 2 9249 7499

nArWee
A  8a Fisher Place  

Narwee NSW Australia 2209
P PO Box 25 Narwee  
 NSW Australia 2209 
t +61 2 9534 3111 
F +61 2 9683 6313

Liability limited by a scheme approved 
under Professional Standards Legislation.

A member firm of DFK, a worldwide 
association of independent firms  
and business advisers.

e admin@cibaccountants.com.au     W www.cibaccountants.com.au

FINANCIAL REPORT
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                              STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019 

 
 
 Note Consolidated Group 
  2019 2018 
  $ $ 
Revenue 3 146,014,357 151,023,973 
Discounts allowed  (4,954,384) (5,050,980) 
Consumables used  (110,997,129) (119,350,628) 
Changes in inventories  (1,517,462) 1,437,929 

Gross profit  28,545,382 28,060,295 

    
Employee benefits expense  (11,701,467) (11,483,776) 
Depreciation and amortisation expenses  (557,395) (507,384) 
Finance costs  (748,626) (573,661) 
Promotional expenses  (1,331,709) (1,604,441) 
Advertising expenses  (422,203) (397,955) 
Accounting and audit fees  (94,750) (107,519) 
Commissions  (116,600) (72,326) 
Freight and cartage  (4,514,434) (4,408,314) 
Other administrative expenses  (6,735,353) (6,425,885) 

Profit before income tax 5 2,322,846 2,479,034 
Income tax expense 4 (755,788) (546,594) 

Profit for the year  1,567,058 1,932,440 

    

Profit attributable to:    

Members of the parent entity  1,567,058 1,932,440 

  1,567,058 1,932,440 

 

Other comprehensive income    

Other  - - 

Other comprehensive income for the year, net 
of tax  - - 

Total comprehensive income for the year  1,567,058 1,932,440 

    

Total comprehensive income attributable to:    

Members of the parent entity  1,567,058 1,932,440 

    

 

 

 

 

 
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

18



Cenversa Limited and Controlled Entities 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements 
 Page 10 of 49 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 30 JUNE 2019 

   

 Note Consolidated Group 

  2019 2018 

  $ $ 

ASSETS    

CURRENT ASSETS    
Cash and cash equivalents 8  2,358,170  616,878 

Trade and other receivables 9  14,590,607  15,768,065 

Inventories 10  15,084,854  16,602,316 

Current tax assets 19  -  329,310 

Other assets 11 181,072 141,176 

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS   32,214,703  33,457,745 

    

NON-CURRENT ASSETS    

Property, plant and equipment 13  1,826,064  1,936,782 

Intangible assets 14  3,143,438  3,230,798 

Deferred tax assets 19  877,026  888,353 

Other non-current assets 11  1,035,410  1,019,761 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS   6,881,938  7,075,693 

TOTAL ASSETS   39,096,641  40,533,439 

    

LIABILITIES    

CURRENT LIABILITIES    

Trade and other payables 15  13,562,661  14,903,962 

Borrowings 16  13,056,654  15,436,169 

Provisions 18 1,049,139    814,015 

Current tax liabilities 19 24,745 - 

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES   27,693,199 31,154,146 

    

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES    
Borrowings 16  27,683  53,044 

Provisions 18  259,223  306,842 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES   286,905  359,886 

TOTAL LIABILITIES   27,980,104  31,514,032 

    

NET ASSETS   11,116,537  9,019,408 

    

    

    

    

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 30 JUNE 2019 

   

 Note Consolidated Group 

  2019 2018 

  $ $ 

    

EQUITY    

Issued capital 20  10,769,820  8,699,584 

Retained earnings   346,717  319,824 

TOTAL EQUITY   11,116,537  9,019,408 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019 

 Note 

 
Ordinary 

shares 
Retained 
earnings Total 

  $ $ $ 
     
Balance at 1 July 2017  7,934,399 (129,068) 7,805,331 

Comprehensive income:     

Profit for the year  - 1,932,440 1,932,440 

Dividends paid 7 - (1,483,548) (1,483,548) 

Shares issued during the year 20 765,185 - 765,185 

Balance at 30 June 2018  8,699,584 319,824 9,019,408 

     

Balance at 1 July 2018  8,699,584 319,824 9,019,408 

Comprehensive income:     

Profit for the year  - 1,567,058 1,567,058 

Dividends paid 7 - (1,540,565) (1,540,565) 

Shares issued during the year 20 2,070,236 - 2,070,236 

Balance at 30 June 2019  10,770,220 346,317 11,116,537 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019 
   
 Note Consolidated Group 
  2019 2018 
  $ $ 
    

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES    

Receipts from customers  161,789,698 165,166,924 

Payments to suppliers and employees  (156,651,020) (162,620,858) 

Interest received  3,230 2,075 

Income tax (paid) refunded  (390,406) (520,283) 

Interest paid  (748,626) (573,661) 

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 23 4,002,876 1,454,197 

    

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES    

Proceeds from sale of plant and equipment  26,163 34,818 

Purchase of property, plant and equipment  (412,916) (440,000) 

Purchase of business  - (920,627) 

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities  (386,780) (1,325,809) 

    

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES    

Decrease in receivables finance facility  (2,038,799) 224,045 

Loan (repayment) to related party  (326,163) (34,671) 

Lease payments  (39,914) (54,277) 

Dividends paid  (1,367,928) (718,363) 

Proceeds from the issue of shares  1,898,000 - 

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities  (1,874,804) (583,266) 

    

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash 
equivalents  1,741,292 (454,878) 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  616,878 1,071,756 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 8 2,358,170 616,878 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019 
 
NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
The financial report includes the consolidated financial statements and notes of Cenversa Limited and Controlled 
Entities (the “consolidated group” or “group”). 
Basis of Preparation 
The financial statements are general purpose financial statements that have been prepared in accordance with 
Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements of the Australian Accounting Standards 
Board and the Corporations Act 2001. The company is a for-profit entity for financial reporting purposes under 
Australian Accounting Standards. 

Australian Accounting Standards set out accounting policies that the AASB has concluded would result in financial 
statements containing relevant and reliable information about transactions, events and conditions. Material 
accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are presented below and have been 
consistently applied unless stated otherwise. 

The financial statements, except for the cash flow information, have been prepared on an accruals basis and are 
based on historical costs, modified, where applicable, by the measurement at fair value of selected non-current 
assets, financial assets and financial liabilities. The amounts presented in the financial statements have been 
rounded to the nearest dollar. 

The financial statements were authorised for issue on the 24th of October, 2019 by the directors of the company. 

Accounting Policies 
a. Principles of Consolidation 
 The consolidated financial statements incorporate all of the assets, liabilities and results of the parent 

entity (“the parent”), Cenversa Limited, and its subsidiaries. Subsidiaries are entities the parent controls. 
The parent controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement 
with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. A list of the 
subsidiaries is provided in Note 12. 

 The assets, liabilities and results of all subsidiaries are fully consolidated into the financial statements of 
the Group from the date on which control is obtained by the Group. The consolidation of a subsidiary is 
discontinued from the date that control ceases. Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains 
or losses on transactions between group entities are fully eliminated on consolidation. Accounting policies 
of subsidiaries have been changed and adjustments made where necessary to ensure uniformity of the 
accounting policies adopted by the Group. 

 Equity interests in a subsidiary not attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Group are presented as “non-
controlling interests”. The Group initially recognises non-controlling interests that are present ownership 
interests in subsidiaries either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the 
subsidiary’s net assets when the holders are entitled to a proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net 
assets on liquidation. All other components of non-controlling interests are initially measured at their 
acquisition-date fair value.  Subsequent to initial recognition, non-controlling interests are attributed their 
share of profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income. Non-controlling interests 
(when applicable) are shown separately within the equity section of the statement of financial position and 
statement of comprehensive income. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019 
 
NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
b. Business Combinations 
 Business combinations occur where an acquirer obtains control over one or more businesses. 

 A business combination is accounted for by applying the acquisition method, unless it is a combination 
involving entities or businesses under common control. The business combination will be accounted for 
from the date that control is attained whereby the fair values of the identifiable assets acquired and 
liabilities (including contingent liabilities) assumed are recognised (subject to certain limited exceptions). 

 When measuring the consideration transferred in the business combination, any asset or liability resulting 
from a contingent consideration arrangement is also included. Subsequent to initial recognition, 
contingent consideration classified as equity is not remeasured and its subsequent settlement is 
accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured 
each reporting period to fair value recognising any change to fair value in profit or loss, unless the change 
in value can be identified as existing at acquisition date. 

 All transaction costs incurred in relation to the business combination are recognised as expenses in profit 
or loss. 

 The acquisition of a business may result in the recognition of goodwill or a gain from a bargain purchase. 

  
 Goodwill 
 Goodwill is carried at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. 

 The amount of goodwill recognised on acquisition of each subsidiary in which the Group holds a less than 
100% interest will depend on the method adopted in measuring the non-controlling interest. The Group 
can elect in most circumstances to measure the non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value 
(“full goodwill method”) or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the subsidiary’s 
identifiable net assets (“proportionate interest method”). In such circumstances, the Group determines 
which method to adopt for each acquisition and this is stated in the respective notes to these financial 
statements disclosing the business combination. 

 Under the full goodwill method, the fair values of the non-controlling interest are determined using 
valuation techniques which make the maximum use of market information where available. Under this 
method, goodwill attributable to the non-controlling interests is recognised in the consolidated financial 
statements. 

 Goodwill on acquisition of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets. Goodwill on acquisition of 
associates is included in investments in associates. 

 Goodwill is tested for impairment annually and is allocated to the Group’s cash-generating units or groups 
of cash-generating units, which represent the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored but where such 
level is not larger than an operating segment. Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the 
carrying amount of goodwill related to the entity sold. 

 Changes in the ownership interests in a subsidiary that do not result in loss of control are accounted for 
as equity transactions and do not affect the carrying amounts of goodwill. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019 
 
NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
c. Income Tax 
 The income tax expense (income) for the year comprises current income tax expense (income) and 

deferred tax expense (income). 

 Current income tax expense charged to profit or loss is the tax payable on taxable income. Current tax 
liabilities (assets) are therefore measured at the amounts expected to be paid to (recovered from) the 
relevant taxation authority. 

 Deferred income tax expense reflects movements in deferred tax asset and deferred tax liability balances 
during the year as well as unused tax losses. 

 Current and deferred income tax expense (income) is charged or credited outside profit or loss when the 
tax relates to items that are recognised outside profit or loss. 

 Except for business combinations, no deferred income tax is recognised from the initial recognition of an 
asset or liability where there is no effect on accounting or taxable profit or loss. 

 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period 
when the asset is realised or the liability is settled and their measurement also reflects the manner in 
which management expects to recover or settle the carrying amount of the related asset or liability. With 
respect to non-depreciable items of property, plant and equipment measured at fair value and items of 
investment property measured at fair value, the related deferred tax liability or deferred tax asset is 
measured on the basis that the carrying amount of the asset will be recovered entirely through sale.  
When an investment property that is depreciable is held by the Group in a business model whose 
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the property through use 
over time (rather than through sale), the related deferred tax liability or deferred tax asset is measured on 
the basis that the carrying amount of such property will be recovered entirely through use. 

 Deferred tax assets relating to temporary differences and unused tax losses are recognised only to the 
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the benefits of the 
deferred tax asset can be utilised. 

 Where temporary differences exist in relation to investments in subsidiaries, branches, associates and 
joint ventures, deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised where the timing of the reversal of the 
temporary difference can be controlled and it is not probable that the reversal will occur in the foreseeable 
future. 

 Current tax assets and liabilities are offset where a legally enforceable right of set-off exists and it is 
intended that net settlement or simultaneous realisation and settlement of the respective asset and 
liability will occur. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where: (a) a legally enforceable right of set-
off exists; and (b) the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation 
authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities, where it is intended that net 
settlement or simultaneous realisation and settlement of the respective asset and liability will occur in 
future periods in which significant amounts of deferred tax assets or liabilities are expected to be 
recovered or settled. 

 Tax consolidation 
 Cenversa Limited and its wholly owned Australian subsidiaries have formed an income tax consolidated 

group under tax consolidation legislation. Each entity in the Group recognises its own current and 
deferred tax assets and liabilities. Such taxes are measured using the “stand-alone taxpayer” approach to 
allocation. Current tax liabilities (assets) and deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and tax 
credits in the subsidiaries are immediately transferred to the head entity. The Group notified the 
Australian Taxation Office that it had formed an income tax consolidated group to apply from 1 July 2003. 
The tax consolidated group has entered into a tax-funding arrangement whereby each company in the 
Group contributes to the income tax payable by the Group in proportion to their contribution to the 
Group’s taxable income. Differences between the amounts of net tax assets and liabilities derecognised 
and the net amounts recognised pursuant to the funding arrangement are recognised as either a 
contribution by, or distribution to, the head entity. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019 
 
NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
d. Inventories 
 Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs are assigned on the basis of 

weighted average costs. 
  
e. Property, Plant and Equipment 
 Plant and equipment are measured on the cost basis and are therefore carried at cost less accumulated 

depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. In the event the carrying amount of plant and 
equipment is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, the carrying amount is written down 
immediately to its estimated recoverable amount and impairment losses are recognised either in profit or 
loss or as a revaluation decrease if the impairment losses relate to a revalued asset. A formal 
assessment of recoverable amount is made when impairment indicators are present (refer to Note 1(g) for 
details of impairment). 

 The cost of fixed assets constructed within the Group includes the cost of materials, direct labour, 
borrowing costs and an appropriate proportion of fixed and variable overheads. 

 Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as 
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the 
Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are 
recognised as expenses in profit or loss during the financial period in which they are incurred. 

 Depreciation 
 The depreciable amount of all fixed assets is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the asset’s useful 

life to the Group commencing from the time the asset is held ready for use. Leasehold improvements are 
depreciated over the shorter of either the unexpired period of the lease or the estimated useful lives of the 
improvements. Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss. 

 The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable assets are: 

 Class of Fixed Asset Depreciation Rate 
 Leasehold improvements 10-50% 

 Plant and equipment 15% 

 Motor Vehicles 25% 

 Office Equipment 30% 

 Furniture & Fittings 15% 

 Leased Assets 10-25% 

 The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each 
reporting period. 

 An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying 
amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount. 

 Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount. These 
gains or losses are included in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. When revalued assets are 
sold, amounts included in the revaluation surplus relating to that asset are transferred to retained 
earnings. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019 
 
NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
f. Leases 
 Leases of fixed assets, where substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to the ownership of the 

asset (but not the legal ownership) are transferred to entities in the Group, are classified as finance 
leases. 

 Finance leases are capitalised by recognising an asset and a liability at the lower of the amounts equal to 
the fair value of the leased property or the present value of the minimum lease payments, including any 
guaranteed residual values. Lease payments are allocated between the reduction of the lease liability and 
the lease interest expense for the period. 

 Leased assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of their estimated useful lives or 
the lease term. 

 Lease payments for operating leases, where substantially all the risks and benefits remain with the lessor, 
are recognised as expenses on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

 Lease incentives under operating leases are recognised as a liability and amortised on a straight-line 
basis over the life of the lease term. 

  
g. Financial Instruments 
 Financial assets   
 

All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in their entirety at either amortised cost or fair 
value, depending on the classification of the financial assets. 

 
Classification  

 
On initial recognition, the company classifies its financial assets into the following categories, those 
measured at: 

 
• amortised cost 
• fair value through profit or loss - FVTPL 
• fair value through other comprehensive income - equity instrument (FVOCI - equity) 
• fair value through other comprehensive income - debt investments (FVOCI - debt) 

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the company changes 
its business model for managing financial assets. 

 
Amortised cost 

Assets measured at amortised cost are financial assets where: 
 
• the business model is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; and 
 
• the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows are solely payments of principal 

and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

The company's financial assets measured at amortised cost comprise trade and other receivables and 
cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position. 

Subsequent to initial recognition, these assets are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest 
rate method less provision for impairment. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019 
 
NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
g. Financial Instruments (cont’d) 
 Financial assets (cont’d) 
 

Interest income, foreign exchange gains or losses and impairment are recognised in profit or loss.  Gain 
or loss on derecognition is recognised in profit or loss. 

Fair value through other comprehensive income  

The company has no financial assets in this category.  

Financial assets through profit or loss  

The company has no financial assets in this category.  

Impairment of financial assets  

Impairment of financial assets is recognised on an expected credit loss (ECL) basis for the following 
assets: 

• financial assets measured at amortised cost 
• debt investments measured at FVOCI 
 

 
When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial 
recognition and when estimating ECL, the company considers reasonable and supportable information 
that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort.  This includes both quantitative and qualitative 
information and analysis based on the company's historical experience and informed credit assessment 
and including forward looking information. 

The company uses the presumption that an asset which is more than 30 days past due has seen a 
significant increase in credit risk. 

The company uses the presumption that a financial asset is in default when: 

• the other party is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the company in full, without recourse to the 
company to actions such as realising security (if any is held). 

Credit losses are measured as the present value of the difference between the cash flows due to the 
company in accordance with the contract and the cash flows expected to be received.  This is applied 
using a probability weighted approach. 

Trade receivables and contract assets  

Impairment of trade receivables and contract assets have been determined using the simplified approach 
in AASB 9 which uses an estimation of lifetime expected credit losses.  The company has determined the 
probability of non-payment of the receivable and contract asset and multiplied this by the amount of the 
expected loss arising from default. 

The amount of the impairment is recorded in a separate allowance account with the loss being recognised 
in finance expense.  Once the receivable is determined to be uncollectable then the gross carrying 
amount is written off against the associated allowance. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019 
 
NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
g. Financial Instruments (cont’d) 
 Financial assets (cont’d) 
 

Where the company renegotiates the terms of trade receivables due from certain customers, the new 
expected cash flows are discounted at the original effective interest rate and any resulting difference to 
the carrying value is recognised in profit or loss. 

Other financial assets measured at amortised cost 

Impairment of other financial assets measured at amortised cost are determined using the expected credit 
loss model in AASB 9.  On initial recognition of the asset, an estimate of the expected credit losses for the 
next 12 months is recognised.  Where the asset has experienced significant increase in credit risk then 
the lifetime losses are estimated and recognised. 

Financial liabilities   

The company measures all financial liabilities initially at fair value less transaction costs, subsequently 
financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. 

The financial liabilities of the company comprise trade payables. 
 

h. Impairment of Assets 
 At the end of each reporting period, the Group assesses whether there is any indication that an asset may 

be impaired. The assessment will include considering external sources of information and internal 
sources of information, including dividends received from subsidiaries, associates or jointly controlled 
entities deemed to be out of pre-acquisition profits. If such an indication exists, an impairment test is 
carried out on the asset by comparing the recoverable amount of the asset, being the higher of the 
asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use to the asset’s carrying amount. Any excess of the 
asset’s carrying amount over its recoverable amount is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless 
the asset is carried at a revalued amount in accordance with another Standard (eg in accordance with the 
revaluation model in AASB 116).  Any impairment loss of a revalued asset is treated as a revaluation 
decrease in accordance with that other Standard. 

 Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates 
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 

 Impairment testing is performed annually for goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives. 

  
i. Intangibles Other than Goodwill 
 Patents and Trademarks 
 Patents and trademarks are recognised at cost of acquisition. Patents and trademarks have a finite life 

and are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses. Patents and 
trademarks are amortised over their useful life, with trademarks having a useful life of 10 years and other 
intangibles having a useful life of 5 years. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019 
 
NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
j. Employee Benefits 
 Short-term employee benefits 
 Provision is made for the Group’s obligation for short-term employee benefits.  Short-term employee 

benefits are benefits (other than termination benefits) that are expected to be settled wholly within 12 
months after the end of the annual reporting period in which the employees render the related service, 
including wages, salaries and sick leave.  Short-term employee benefits are measured at the 
(undiscounted) amounts expected to be paid when the obligation is settled. 

 The Group’s obligations for short-term employee benefits such as wages, salaries and sick leave are 
recognised as a part of current trade and other payables in the statement of financial position.   

 Other long-term employee benefits 

 The Group classifies employees’ long service leave and annual leave entitlements as other long-term 
employee benefits, as they are not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the 
annual reporting period in which the employees render the related service. Provision is made for the 
Group’s obligation for other long-term employee benefits, which is measured at the present value of the 
expected future payments to be made to employees. Expected future payments incorporate anticipated 
future wage and salary levels, durations of service and employee departures and are discounted at rates 
determined by reference to market yields at the end of the reporting period on government bonds that 
have maturity dates that approximate the terms of the obligations.  Upon the remeasurement of 
obligations for other long-term employee benefits, the net change in the obligation is recognised in profit 
or loss as a part of employee benefit expense.   

 The Group’s obligations for long-term employee benefits are presented as non-current provisions in its 
statement of financial position, except where the Group does not have an unconditional right to defer 
settlement for at least 12 months after the reporting date, in which case the obligations are presented as 
current provisions. 

 Retirement benefit obligations 

 Defined contribution superannuation benefits 

 All employees of the Group receive defined contribution superannuation entitlements, for which the Group 
pays the fixed superannuation guarantee contribution (currently 9.5% of the employee’s average ordinary 
salary) to the employee’s superannuation fund of choice. All contributions in respect of employees’ 
defined contribution entitlements are recognised as an expense when they become payable.  The 
Group’s obligation with respect to employees’ defined contribution entitlements is limited to its obligation 
for any unpaid superannuation guarantee contributions at the end of the reporting period. All obligations 
for unpaid superannuation guarantee contributions are measured at the (undiscounted) amounts 
expected to be paid when the obligation is settled and are presented as a part of current trade and other 
payables in the Group’s statement of financial position.   

  
k. Provisions 
 Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation, as a result of past 

events, for which it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will result and that outflow can be 
reliably measured. 

 Provisions are measured using the best estimate of the amounts required to settle the obligation at the 
end of the reporting period. 

  
l. Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at-call with banks, other short-term highly 

liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts 
are shown within short-term borrowings in current liabilities in the statement of financial position. 
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NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
m. Revenue and Other Income 
 Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable after taking into account 

any trade discounts and volume rebates allowed. Any consideration deferred is treated as the provision of 
finance and is discounted at a rate of interest that is generally accepted in the market for similar 
arrangements. The difference between the amount initially recognised and the amount ultimately received 
is interest revenue. 

 Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised at the point of delivery as this corresponds to the transfer 
of significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods and the cessation of all involvement in those 
goods. 

 Interest revenue is recognised on a proportional basis taking into account the interest rates applicable to 
the financial assets. 

 Dividend revenue is recognised when the right to receive a dividend has been established. 

 All revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and services tax. 

  
n. Trade and Other Payables 
 Trade and other payables represent the liabilities for goods and services received by the Group during the 

reporting period that remain unpaid at the end of the reporting period, and are recognised as a current 
liability. 

  
o. Goods and Services Tax (GST) 
 Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of 

GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO). 

 Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net 
amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is included with other receivables or payables in 
the statement of financial position. 

 Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or 
financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO are presented as operating cash 
flows included in receipts from customers or payments to suppliers. 

  
p. Comparative Figures 
 When required by Accounting Standards, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes 

in presentation for the current financial year.  

  
q. Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments 
 The directors evaluate estimates and judgments incorporated in the financial statements based on 

historical knowledge and best available current information. Estimates assume a reasonable expectation 
of future events and are based on current trends and economic data, obtained both externally and within 
the Group. 

 Key estimates 
 (i) Impairment - general 

 The Group assesses impairment at the end of each reporting period by evaluation of conditions and 
events specific to the Group that may be indicative of impairment triggers. Recoverable amounts of 
relevant assets are reassessed using value-in-use calculations which incorporate various key 
assumptions. 
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NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 Key judgements 
 (i) Employee benefits 

 For the purpose of measurement, AASB 119: Employee Benefits defines obligations for short-term 
employee benefits as obligations expected to be settled wholly before 12 months after the end of the 
annual reporting period in which the employees render the related services. As the Group expects that 
most employees will not use all of their annual leave entitlements in the same year in which they are 
earned or during the 12-month period that follows (despite an informal group policy that requires annual 
leave to be used within 12 months), the directors believe that obligations for annual leave entitlements 
satisfy the definition of other long-term employee benefits and, as a result, are required to be measured at 
the present value of the expected future payments to be made to employees. 

  
r. Fair Value of Assets and Liabilities 
 The Group measures some of its assets and liabilities at fair value on either a recurring or non-recurring 

basis, depending on the requirements of the applicable Accounting Standard. 

 “Fair value” is the price the Group would receive to sell an asset or would have to pay to transfer a liability 
in an orderly (i.e. unforced) transaction between independent, knowledgeable and willing market 
participants at the measurement date. 

 As fair value is a market-based measure, the closest equivalent observable market pricing information is 
used to determine fair value. Adjustments to market values may be made having regard to the 
characteristics of the specific asset or liability.  The fair values of assets and liabilities that are not traded 
in an active market are determined using one or more valuation techniques. These valuation techniques 
maximise, to the extent possible, the use of observable market data. 

 To the extent possible, market information is extracted from the principal market for the asset or liability 
(i.e. the market with the greatest volume and level of activity for the asset or liability). In the absence of 
such a market, market information is extracted from the most advantageous market available to the entity 
at the end of the reporting period (i.e. the market that maximises the receipts from the sale of the asset or 
minimises the payments made to transfer the liability, after taking into account transaction costs and 
transport costs). 

 For non-financial assets, the fair value measurement also takes into account a market participant’s ability 
to use the asset in its highest and best use or to sell it to another market participant that would use the 
asset in its highest and best use. 

 The fair value of liabilities and the entity’s own equity instruments (excluding those related to share-based 
payment arrangements) may be valued, where there is no observable market price in relation to the 
transfer of such financial instruments, by reference to observable market information where such 
instruments are held as assets. Where this information is not available, other valuation techniques are 
adopted and, where significant, are detailed in the respective note to the financial statements. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019 
 

NOTE 2: PARENT INFORMATION 
The following information has been extracted from the books and records of the parent and has been prepared in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards. 
 2019 2018 

 $ $ 
Statement of Financial Position   

ASSETS   

Current assets 2,788,272 1,936,812 

Non-current assets 913,298 994,443 

TOTAL ASSETS 3,701,570 2,931,255 

LIABILITIES   

Current liabilities 603,406 333,612 

Non-current liabilities - - 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 603,406 333,612 

EQUITY   

Issued capital 10,769,822 8,699,186 

Retained earnings (7,671,658) (6,101,542) 

TOTAL EQUITY 3,098,164 2,597,644 

   

Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive 
Income 

  

Total profit before tax 8,768 181,968 

Income tax expense (38,319) (27,897) 

Total comprehensive income (loss) (29,551) 154,071 

 
Guarantees 
Cenversa Limited has not entered into any guarantees, in the current or previous financial years, in relation to 
the debts of its subsidiaries. 

Contingent liabilities 

At 30 June 2019, Cenversa Limited had no contingent liabilities to disclose (2018 Nil). 

Contractual commitments 

At 30 June 2019, Cenversa Limited had not entered into any contractual commitments (2018 Nil). 
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NOTE 3: REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME 
  Consolidated Group 
  2019 2018 
  $ $ 

Revenue    

Sales revenue:    

– Sale of goods  143,900,301 148,734,783 

– Rebates and recoveries  1,481,474 1,745,737 

– Settlement discount received  629,352 541,378 

Total sales revenue  146,011,127 151,021,898 

    

Other revenue:    

– Interest received  3,230 2,075 

– Other income  - - 

Total other revenue  3,230 2,075 

Total Revenue  146,014,357 151,023,973 

 
NOTE 4: INCOME TAX EXPENSE 
  Consolidated Group 
  2019 2018 
  $ $ 
a. The components of tax expense/(income) comprise:   

 Current tax expense (income) 777,491 618,061 

 Deferred tax expense (income) 11,327 101,886 

 Under (over) provision in respect of prior years (33,030) (173,353) 

  755,788 546,594 

    

b. The prima facie tax on profit (loss) before income tax is 
reconciled to income tax as follows:   

 Prima facie tax on profit (loss) before income tax at 30% 
(2018: 30%):   

 – consolidated group 696,854 743,710 

     

 Add tax effect of:    

 – other (allowable)/non-allowable items 91,964 (23,763) 

 – Under (over) provision in respect of prior years (33,030) (173,353) 

 Tax expense 755,788 546,594  
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NOTE 5: PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX 
 Consolidated Group 

 2019 2018 

 $ $ 

Profit before income tax from continuing operations includes 
the following specific expenses:   

(a) Expenses   

Finance costs 748,626 573,661 

Bad and doubtful debts 51,903 7,358 

Rental expense 1,273,978 989,233 

Utility costs 160,234 149,586 

Superannuation 996,793 955,181 

   

(b) Significant revenue and expenses   

The following significant revenue and expense items are 
relevant in explaining the financial performance:   

Insurance 434,960 348,826 

Legal fees 147,828 74,295 

Motor vehicle expenses 417,058 404,010 

Packaging costs 769,249 811,627 

Payroll tax 577,869 558,158 

 
 

NOTE 6: KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL COMPENSATION 
  

 2019 2018 

 $ $ 

Key management personnel compensation 350,444 336,272 

 

The totals represent the remuneration paid to key management personnel (KMP) of the Group during the year, being 
paid by a subsidiary entity. 

Other KMP transactions 
For details of other transactions with KMP, refer to Note 21: Related Party Transactions. 
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NOTE 7: DIVIDENDS 
 Consolidated Group 

 2019 2018 

 $ $ 

Distributions paid:   

Declared fully franked ordinary dividend of 2.0 cents per share 
(2018: 2.0 cents) franked at the tax rate of 30% (2018: 30%) 1,540,565 1,483,548 

Balance of franking account at year-end adjusted for franking 
credits arising from:   

– dividends recognised as receivables, franking debits 
arising from payment of proposed dividends and 
franking credits that may be prevented from distribution 
in subsequent financial years 3,985,395 4,215,196 

Total dividends (cents) per share for the period 2.0 2.0 

 
 

NOTE 8: CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

  Consolidated Group 
 Note 2019 2018 
  $ $ 
Cash on hand  3,800 3,800 

Cash at bank  2,354,370 613,078 

 17 2,358,170 616,878 

Reconciliation of cash    

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the 
financial year as shown in the statement of cash 
flows are reconciled to items in the statement of 
financial position as follows: 

 

  

Cash and cash equivalents  2,358,170 616,878 

Bank overdraft  - - 

 23 2,358,170 616,878 

There are no restrictions with respect to access to 
the cash and cash equivalent balances shown. 
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NOTE 9: TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 
 Note Consolidated Group 
  2019 2018 
  $ $ 
CURRENT    
Trade receivables   14,196,556  15,540,592 
Provision for impairment 9a (54,114)  (10,888) 

  14,142,442 15,529,704 
    
Goods and services tax   7,658  (10,455) 
Other receivables   440,506  248,816 

Total current trade and other receivables  14,590,607 15,768,065 

    
a. Provision for impairment of receivables 
 Movement in the provision for impairment of receivables is as follows: 

 

 
Opening 
Balance 

Charge for the 
Year 

Amounts 
Written Off 

Closing Balance 

 $ $ $ $ 
 1 July 2017   30 June 2018 
 Current trade receivables 23,848 8,967 (21,927) 10,888 
      
  1 July 2018   30 June 2019 
 Current trade receivables 10,888 59,484 (16,258) 54,114 

 
  Note Consolidated Group 
   2019 2018 
   $ $ 
b. Financial assets classified as loans and 

receivables 
   

 Trade and other receivables:    
 – total current  14,150,100 15,519,249 
 – total non-current  - - 

 Financial assets 17 14,150,100 15,519,249 
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NOTE 10: INVENTORIES 
  Consolidated Group 

  2019 2018 

  $ $ 

CURRENT    

At cost:    

– Stock on hand   15,363,733  16,867,077 

– Less provision for obsolescence  (278,878)  (264,760) 

    15,084,854  16,602,316 

    

 
 

NOTE 11: OTHER ASSETS 

 Consolidated Group 
 2019 2018 
 $ $ 
CURRENT   

Prepayments  181,072  141,176 

   

NON-CURRENT   

Investment  815,147  815,147 

Deposits  220,263  204,614 

  1,035,410  1,019,761 
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NOTE 12: CONTROLLED ENTITIES 
 a. Information about Principal Subsidiaries 
 The subsidiaries listed below have share capital consisting solely of ordinary shares which are held directly 

by the parent entity. The assets, liabilities, income and expenses of the subsidiaries have been 
consolidated on a line-by-line basis in the consolidated financial statements of the Group. The proportion of 
ownership interests held equals the voting rights held by the Group. 

 
Name of subsidiary 

Proportion of Ownership Interest Held by the 
Group* 

  2019 2018 
 Cenvet Australia Pty Ltd 100% 100% 

 Central Pet Australia Pty Ltd  100% 100% 
 Veterinary Companies of Australia Pty Ltd 100% 100% 
 Full Petential Pty Ltd 100% 100% 
 NextGen Vet Pty Ltd 100% 100% 
 Cenversa Services Pty Ltd   100% 100% 
 Vet Extra Pty Ltd 100% 100% 
 Cenquip Pty Ltd  100% 100% 
 Cenvet Veterinary Hospitals Pty Limited  100% 100% 

 Cenvet Limited 100% - 
    
 *Percentage of voting power in proportion to ownership   

    
 Subsidiary financial statements used in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements have 

also been prepared as at the same reporting date as the Group’s financial statements. 
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NOTE 13: PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
 Note Consolidated Group 
  2019 2018 
  $ $ 
Leasehold improvements:    

Leasehold improvements at cost  1,515,481 1,490,256 

Less accumulated depreciation  (1,208,859) (1,060,007) 

 13a 306,622 430,249 

    

Plant and equipment:    

Plant and equipment at cost  1,783,419 1,736,574 

Less accumulated depreciation  (963,939) (872,444) 

 13a 819,480 864,130 

    

Motor vehicles:    

Motor vehicles at cost  76,801 60,047 

Less accumulated depreciation  (34,157) (25,160) 

 13a 42,644 34,887 

    

Office equipment:    

Office equipment at cost  1,000,911 809,210 

Less accumulated depreciation  (572,823) (444,958) 

 13a 428,087 364,252 

    

Furniture, fixtures and fittings:    

Furniture, fixtures and fittings at cost  253,294 211,035 

Less accumulated depreciation  (116,643) (96,702) 

 13a 136,651 114,333 

    

Fixed assets under lease:    

Fixed assets under lease at cost  121,535 197,939 

Less accumulated depreciation  (28,955) (69,008) 

 13a 92,580 128,931 

    

Total property, plant and equipment  1,826,064 1,936,782 
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NOTE 13: PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED) 
a. Movements in Carrying Amounts 
 Movement in the carrying amounts for each class of property, plant and equipment: 

 
 Leasehold 

improvements 
Plant & 

Equipment 
Motor 

vehicles 
Office 

equipment 
Furniture, 
fixtures & 

fittings 

Fixed 
assets 

under lease 
Total 

 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Balance at 1 
July 2018 430,249 864,130 34,887 364,252 114,333 128,931 1,936,782 

Additions 25,225 109,911 51,230 191,700 42,258 40,273 460,598 

Transfers - - - - - - - 

Disposals - (63,066) (34,476) - - (116,677) (214,219) 

Depreciation 
expense (148,852) (138,389) (10,561) (127,865) (19,941) (24,427) (470,035) 

Balance at 30 
June 2019 306,622 819,480 42,644 428,087 136,651 92,580 1,826,064 

        

Balance at 1 
July 2017 435,266 839,190 83,312 312,372 91,766 181,551 1,943,457 

Additions 65,277 140,010 20,387 175,117 39,209 - 440,000 

Transfers 18,248 26,924 - - - - 45,172 

Disposals - - (51,495) - - (20,387) (71,882) 

Depreciation 
expense (88,542) (141,994) (17,317) (123,237) (16,642) (32,233) (419,965) 

Balance at 30 
June 2018 430,249 864,130 34,887 364,252 114,333 128,931 1,936,782 

 
 

NOTE 14: INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
 Note Consolidated Group 
  2019 2018 
  $ $ 
Goodwill   2,528,038  2,528,038 

Accumulated impairment  - - 

Net carrying amount 14a 2,528,038 2,528,038 

    

Patents and trademarks   911,231  911,230 

Less accumulated amortisation  (295,831)  (208,470) 

Net carrying amount 14a  615,400  702,760 

Total intangibles   3,143,438  3,230,798 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019 

 
NOTE 14: INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED) 
a. Movements in Carrying Amounts   

   2019 2018 
   $ $ 
 Goodwill:    

 Balance at beginning of year  2,528,038 2,371,554 

 Additions  -  156,484 

 Balance at end of year  2,528,038 2,528,038 

 Patents and trademarks:    

 Balance at beginning of year  702,760 790,196 

 Additions  - - 

 Amortisation charge  (87,360) (87,436) 

 Impairment charge  - - 

 Balance at end of year  615,400 702,760 

 Total  3,143,438 3,230,798 

 

Key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations 

The group tests whether goodwill has suffered any impairment on an annual basis. The recoverable amount of a 
cash generating unit (“CGU”) is determined based on value-in-use calculations which require the use of 
assumptions. The calculations use cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by management 
covering a five-year period. Cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using the estimated growth 
rates stated below. These growth rates do not exceed the long-term average growth rates for the industry in which 
each CGU operates.  

  

Significant assumptions used for the purposes of value-in-use calculations include: 

  

Goodwill  

Period of cash flows: 5 years (2018: 5 years)  

Average revenue growth rate during the forecast period: 4% (2018: 4%)  

Pre-tax discount rate: 15.5% (2018: 15.4%)  

Terminal Value growth rate of 3% (2018: 2.5%)  

  

These assumptions have been used for the analysis of each CGU. Management have determined budgeted 
EBITDA based on past performances and its expectations for the future. The weighted average growth rates used 
are consistent with forecasts included in industry reports and comparable listed entities. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019 

 
 

NOTE 15: TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 
 Note Consolidated Group 
  2019 2018 
  $ $ 
CURRENT    
Unsecured liabilities:    
Trade payables   11,968,796  13,436,968 
Loyalty programs   856,771  1,153,059 
Operating lease payable (straight lining)   10,814  33,175 
Payable to related party   574,246  (21,343) 
Sundry payables and accrued expenses  152,034  302,103 

  15a  13,562,661  14,903,962 

     
    
a. Financial liabilities at amortised cost 

classified as trade and other payables    
 Trade and other payables:    
 – total current  13,562,661 14,903,962 

   13,562,661 14,903,962 
 Less other payables  (10,814) (33,175) 

 Financial liabilities as trade and other payables 17 13,551,847 14,870,787 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019 

 
b. Lines of credit 
 During the reporting period the company utilised lines of credit made available by employees. The lines 

provide up to 55 days credit from transaction date. The amount transacted during the reporting period was 
$6,768,191 (2018: $11,170,808). At balance date the amount owing disclosed within current liabilities was 
$844,830 (2018: $1,416,738). 

 
 

NOTE 16: BORROWINGS 
 Note Consolidated Group 
  2019 2018 
  $ $ 
CURRENT    
Lease liability secured 16c  61,819  76,371 
Loan from related party, unsecured, interest bearing 16d  30,861  357,024 
Trade receivables financing facility 16b 11,285,974 13,106,843 
Commercial bill 16e 1,678,000 1,895,931 

Total current borrowings   13,056,654  15,436,169 

NON-CURRENT    
Lease liability secured 16c  27,683  53,044 

Total non-current borrowings   27,683 53,044 

Total borrowings   13,084,337 15,489,213 

a. Total current and non-current secured 
liabilities:    

 Trade receivables financing facility 17 11,285,974 13,106,843 
 Commercial bill 17 1,678,000 1,895,931 
 Lease liability secured  89,501 129,415 

   13,053,475 15,132,189 

      
b. Guarantees and indemnities exist by and between all controlled entities in favour of the finance provider 

for obligations under the receivables financing agreement. 
 

c. Lease liabilities are secured by the underlying leased assets. 
 

d. The unsecured loans were advanced by a director of Cenversa Limited on commercial terms. Refer to 
Note 21 for further disclosure. 
 

e. Short term commercial bill. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019 
 
NOTE 17: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
The Group financial instruments consist mainly of accounts receivable and payable. 

The carrying amounts for each category of financial instruments, measured in accordance with AASB 9 as detailed 
in the accounting policies to these financial statements, are as follows: 

 
 Note Consolidated Group 
  2019 2018 
  $ $ 
Financial assets    

Cash and cash equivalents 8 2,358,170 616,878 

Loans and receivables 9 14,150,100 15,519,249 

  16,508,270 16,136,127 

Financial liabilities    

Financial liabilities at amortised cost:    

Trade and other payables 15 13,551,847 14,870,787 

Trade receivables financing facility 16 11,285,974 13,106,843 

Commercial bill 16 1,678,000 1,895,931 

  26,515,821 29,873,561 

 
 

NOTE 18: PROVISIONS 
 Consolidated Group 
 2019 2018 
 $ $ 
CURRENT   

Employee benefits 1,049,139 814,015 

 1,049,139 814,015 

   

NON-CURRENT   

Employee benefits 259,223 306,842 

 259,223 306,842 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019 
 
NOTE 18: PROVISIONS (CONTINUED) 
 Employee Benefits 
 $ 
Analysis of provisions:  

Opening balance at 1 July 2018 1,120,857 

Additional provisions raised during the year 773,998 

Amounts used (586,493) 

Unused amounts reversed during the year - 

Balance at 30 June 2019 1,308,362 

 
Provision for employee benefits 
Provision for employee benefits represents amounts accrued for annual leave and long service leave. 

The current portion for this provision includes the total amount accrued for annual leave entitlements and the 
amounts accrued for long service leave entitlements that have vested due to employees having completed the 
required period of service. Based on past experience, the Group does not expect the full amount of annual leave or 
long service leave balances classified as current liabilities to be settled wholly within the next 12 months. However, 
these amounts must be classified as current liabilities since the Group does not have an unconditional right to defer 
the settlement of these amounts in the event employees wish to use their leave entitlement. 

The non-current portion for this provision includes amounts accrued for long service leave entitlements that have not 
yet vested in relation to those employees who have not yet completed the required period of service. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

46



Cenversa Limited and Controlled Entities 

 Page 38 of 49 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019 
 
NOTE 19: TAX  
  Consolidated Group 

  2019 2018 

  $ $ 

CURRENT    

Income tax (receivable)/payable   24,745 (329,310) 

    

 
Opening Balance 

(Charged)/ Credited 
to Profit or Loss Closing Balance 

 $ $ $ 

2018    

Deferred tax asset on:    

Provisions – employee benefits 293,659 42,598 336,257 

Accrued loyalty program 460,399 (92,864) 367,535 

Other 236,180 (51,619) 184,561 

 990,238 (101,885) 888,353 

    

2019    

Deferred tax asset on:    

Provisions – employee benefits 336,257 55,947 392,204 

Accrued loyalty program 367,535 (101,537) 265,998 

Other 184,561 34,263 218,824 

 888,353 (11,327) 877,026 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019 
 
NOTE 20: ISSUED CAPITAL 
 Consolidated Group 
 2019 2018 
 $ $ 
77,834,098 fully paid ordinary shares (2018: 75,232,962) 10,769,820 8,699,584 

 
 Consolidated Group 
 2019 2018 
 No. No. 
a. Fully paid ordinary shares   

 At the beginning of the reporting period 75,232,962 74,256,315 

 Shares issued during the year – DRP   172,636 1,020,647 

 Shares issued during the year 2,438,512 - 

 Shares issued during the year – Deferred Shares 
Scheme - - 

 Shares sold during the year - (44,000) 

 At the end of the reporting period 77,844,110 75,232,962 

 Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the 
company in proportion to the number of and amounts paid on the shares held. At shareholders’ meetings, 
each ordinary share is entitled to one vote when a poll is called; otherwise each shareholder has one vote 
on a show of hands. 

In June 2019 the company declared a dividend of 2.0c per share. Under the company’s DRP program 
172,636 ordinary shares were issued. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019 
 
NOTE 21: RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
Related Parties 
The Group’s main related parties are as follows: 

a. Parent entity and controlled entities 
 Cenversa Limited (“the parent”) exercises control over its subsidiaries listed in Note 12. The parent and the 

subsidiaries are collectively referred to as the “consolidated group” and are constituent parts of the 
consolidated financial statements. Accordingly, the subsidiaries are considered related parties in the 
separate financial statements of the parent entity rather than in the consolidated financial statements. 

 Cenversa Limited is an unlisted public company. Despite a relatively large number of shareholders, a 
director (L Bloom) and his spouse collectively own 85% of the company and are therefore considered 
related parties. 

b. Key management personnel 
 Any person(s) having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the 

entity, directly or indirectly, including any director (whether executive or otherwise) of that entity is 
considered key management personnel. 

 For details of disclosures relating to key management personnel, refer to Note 6: Key Management 
Personnel Compensation. 

c. Other related parties 
 Other related parties include close family members of key management personnel and entities that are 

controlled or jointly controlled by those key management personnel individually or collectively with their 
close family members. 

d. Transactions with related parties 
 Transactions between related parties are on normal commercial terms and conditions no more favourable 

than those available to other parties unless otherwise stated. 

 The following transactions occurred with related parties: 

   
 Premises lease:   

 The lessor of the company’s principal place of business is a close member of the director’s family. The 
premises are leased and is expiring 31 October 2019. Rent paid for the year amounted to $487,624. 

    

 Line of credit:   

 The company utilised a line of credit made available by a director. The line provides for up to 55 days credit 
from transaction date. The amount transacted during the reporting period was $795,255 with $289,954 
payable at year end. 

    
  2019 2018 
  $ $ 
 Loans to and from related parties:   

 Net loan from L Bloom (Director) (30,861) (357,024) 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019 
 
NOTE 21: RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

 

 Sales and Purchases:   

 Director L Bloom has interests in customers of the Group. Transactions with those entities were sales of 
$982,970. 

    

 Director S Haynes has interests in customers of the Group. Transactions with those entities were sales of 
$2,978,262. 

  

 Director A Taylor has interests in customers of the Group. Transactions with those entities were sales of 
$1,384,299. 

  

  2019 2018 
 Shareholdings of Directors in parent entity: No. No. 
 L Bloom 31,205,670 32,084,436 

 S Haynes 364,783 355,884 

 R St Julian 858,750 43,750 

 L Bloom - relatives 31,930,028 31,934,806 

 J. Philips - - 

 L Bloom – super fund 146,532 146,532 

 A Taylor – super fund 35,000 35,000 

 A Taylor – trust 5,000 - 

    
  2019 2018 
 Directors fees paid: $ $ 
 L Bloom - - 

 S Haynes 21,900 31,386 

 R St Julian 21,900 - 

 J Phillips 21,900 31,386 

 A Taylor 21,900 1,000 

    

  2019 2018 
 Other fees paid: $ $ 
 J Phillips - consulting 131,499 26,004 

 L Bloom – total remuneration 350,444 336,272 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019 
 
NOTE 22: CAPITAL AND LEASING COMMITMENTS 
 Consolidated Group 
 2019 2018 
 $ $ 

(a) Finance Lease Commitments   

Leasing commitments capitalised in the financial statements   

Payable:   

    not later than one year 66,229 81,624 

    between one and five years 29,074 55,749 

Minimum lease payments 95,303 137,374 

Less future finance charges (5,801) (7,958) 

Present value of minimum lease payments 89,502 129,416 

   

(b) Operating Lease Commitments   

Non-cancellable operating leases contracted for but not 
capitalised in the financial statements   

Payable – minimum lease payments:   

 not later than one year 683,928 943,894 

 between one and five years 276,711 737,398 

  960,639 1,681,292 

    

There are 7 property leases in place; each is non-cancellable, expiring at various dates in the future, with 3 to 5 
year terms. Contingent rental provisions within the lease agreements require that the minimum lease payments 
shall be increased by the lower of the consumer price index (CPI) or 3.5% per annum. An option exists to renew 
the leases at the end of the term for an additional period. 
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NOTE 23: CASH FLOW INFORMATION 
2019 2018 

$ $ 
Reconciliation of Cash Flow from Operations with 
Profit (Loss) after Income Tax 
Profit (Loss) after income tax 1,567,058 1,932,440 

Non-cash flows in profit (loss): 

– depreciation 557,395 507,384 

– loss on sale of fixed asset - 32,757 

– other 27,462 (131,818) 

Changes in assets and liabilities:

– (increase) decrease in receivables 1,177,458 (957,164) 

– (increase) decrease in other assets (55,545) 198,476 

– (increase) decrease in inventories 1,517,462 (1,437,929) 

– increase (decrease) in payables (1,341,301) 1,248,404 

– increase (decrease) in provisions 187,505 100,850 

– increase (decrease) in income tax payable 354,055 (75,574) 

– (increase) decrease in deferred tax asset 11,327 101,885 

4,002,876 1,454,197 

NOTE 24: CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 
Estimates of the potential financial effect of contingent liabilities that may become payable: 

Guarantees: 
Guarantees are provided in relation to amounts extended by 
our bankers under provisions relating to operating property 
leases 109,101 109,101 

Contingent Liability: 
The Directors are not aware of any contingent liabilities to disclose at year end or at the date of signing this report. 

NOTE 25: EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 
On the 3rd July 2019 the group acquired a majority equity interest in a veterinary practice located in Melbourne. 
Contracts have been exchanged on a further two veterinary clinics post year and are expected to settle by the 
31st of October 2019. 

NOTE 26: COMPANY DETAILS 
The registered office and principal place of business of the company is: 

Cenversa Limited 

26 Binney Road, Kings Park NSW 2148 
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DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION 
In accordance with a resolution of the directors of Cenversa Limited, the directors of the company declare that: 

1. The financial statements and notes, as set out on pages 9 to 44, are in accordance with the Corporations Act
2001 and:

a. comply with Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements; and

b. give a true and fair view of the financial position as at 30 June 2019 and of the performance for the year
ended on that date of the consolidated group.

2. In the directors’ opinion there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts
as and when they become due and payable.

Director Director 

Lionel Bloom Alison Taylor 

Dated this 24th day of October 2019 

21 to 56
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CENVERSA LIMITED AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES 
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF CENVERSA LIMITED

Report on the Audit of the Financial Report 
Opinion 
We have audited the financial report of Cenversa Limited (the Group), which comprises the consolidated statement of 
financial position as at 30 June 2019, the consolidated statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the 
year then ended, notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, 
and the directors’ declaration. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of Cenversa Limited is in accordance with the Corporations Act 
2001, including:

i) Giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2019 and of its performance for the
year then ended; and 

ii) Complying with Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements and the Corporations 
Regulations 2001.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those standards 
are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of our report. We 
are independent of the Group in accordance with the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 
2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of 
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We 
have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 

We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, which has been given to the 
directors of Cenversa Limited, would be in the same terms if given to the directors as at the time of this auditor’s 
report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion. 

Information Other than the Financial Report and Auditor’s Report Thereon
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in 
the Group’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2019, but does not include the financial report and our auditor’s 
report thereon. Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. In connection with our audit of the financial report, our 
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the financial report or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.  
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Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report
The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view 
in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and for such internal control as 
the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view 
and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability of the Group to continue as a 
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic 
alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the 
Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from 
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report. 

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgement and 
maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error, 
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting 
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the Group’s internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by the directors. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based 
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that 
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures 
in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are 
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the disclosures, and 
whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation. 

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the financial report. We are responsible for the direction, 
supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 
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FORM - PAGE 1/4 2020 Cenversa Share Offer and Bonus Share Offer OISOFF/20

ATTACH CHEQUE OR EFT RECEIPT 

APPENDIX B. APPLICATION FORM
APPENDIX B. APPLICATION INSTRUCTIONS
Please read and follow these instructions. Please complete all relevant sections of the Application Form.

A  Write the full name you wish to appear on the statement of shareholdings.
B  See next page for the Guide to Completing “Investor Details”.
C  Enter your Tax File Number [TFN] or exemption category. Collection of TFNs is authorised by taxation laws. 

Disclosure of your TFN is not compulsory.
D  Please enter your postal address and email address for all correspondence. All communications to you from the 

Share Registry will be mailed to the address shown.
E  If paying your Application Monies by cheque, make the cheque payable to “Cenversa Ltd.”, in Australian currency 

and cross the cheque ‘Not Negotiable’.
F  If paying by MasterCard or Visa please enter your credit card details on page 4 of this application and note a 

surcharge of 1.5% applies to all credit card payments.
G  If paying your Application Monies by EFT make the payment into the following bank account:

Account Name:  Cenversa Limited – Share Offer Account

Bank:  ANZ Banking Group Limited

Branch:  Main Street Blacktown

BSB Number:  012-233

Account Number  836286707

NB: When paying by EFT the Applicant’s name must be included within the reference field. 

Cenversa Limited / ACN 092 375 221

LODGEMENT OF APPLICATIONS
Detach your completed Application Form and mail it with your cheque or EFT receipt to:

Cenversa Limited
Locked Bag 4365, Blacktown BC, NSW 2148.
Attention: Share Offer Administrator

GUIDE TO COMPLETING THE “INVESTOR DETAILS” SECTION OF THE APPLICATION FORM

INVESTOR TYPE WHO SHOULD SIGN
Individual Individual
Company For a company:

• two directors or
• a director and company secretary or
• if the company has a sole director/secretary, by that person or a 

representative authorised by the company.
Companies can also sign under power of attorney.

Partnership Partners

Trust Entities

Individual trustee(s) If more than one trustee, all trustees should supply their details and sign.

Corporate trustee See “Company” investor above.

Superannuation Funds

Individual trustee(s) If more than one trustee, all trustees should supply their details and sign.

Corporate trustee See “Company” investor above.

Other entities Office bearer(s) – if more than one office bearer, all office bearers should 
supply their details and sign.
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PART B - INVESTOR DETAILS (INDIVIDUAL)

Individual (write the name you wish to register your Shares in using complete names and no initials)

Title (select):                                             Other:

First name:                Middle Name(s):                    Last name:    

Phone number:              Mobile:     

Email address*:    

*By providing this email address, we agree that Cenversa may provide us with information by email regarding our investment.

       I confirm that I am eighteen (18) years of age or older.

Tax File Number or tax file exemption: (see instructions) 

APPENDIX B APPLICATION FORM
PART A - NUMBER OF SHARES

Number of Shares applied for:

Minimum 5,000 Shares to be applied for and thereafter in multiples of 5,000 Shares at $0.80 per Share.

Total amount payable for shares:         $

Election to participate in bonus shares:

I/we wish to participate in the offer of Bonus Shares detailed in this Offer Document and satisfy one of the following 
criteria: (please select)

Annual Practice Purchase. Eligible investors that are existing or potential customers of Cenversa and/or its 
Subsidiaries and wish to participate in the offer of Bonus Shares under this Offer (see Paragraph 5.3)

Large Share Subscription. They wish to subscribe for a minimum of 300,000 Ordinary shares and wish to participate 
in the offer of Bonus Shares under this Offer (see Paragraph 5.5)

Investor Type (Individual) Please complete Part A, Part B, Part D and Part E
Investor Type (Joint Names, Sole Trader, Company, Superannuation Fund, Trust, Partnership or Association)
Please complete Part A, Part C, Part D and Part E

Residential Address

Unit / Street Number:   Street Name:    

Suburb:    State:    Postcode:  Country: 

Postal Address            Same as residential address

PO Box:        

Unit / Street Number:   Street Name:    

Suburb:    State:    Postcode:  Country:

IF YOU HAVE COMPLETED THIS SECTION, PLEASE CONTINUE TO DIVIDEND PAYMENTS ON PAGE 3.
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DIVIDEND PAYMENTS

For any future dividend payments, please provide your bank details.

Account Name:

BSB:    Account Number: 

Company Name/Corporate Trustee:

Name of superannuation fund, trust, partnership or association: 

ABN:       

Company Type: (please select)

    Sole director (Applicant Name 1 only)          Two Directors (Applicant Name 1 & 2 required)          Director & Company Secretary (Applicant Name 1 & 2 required)

Applicant Name 1:

Applicant Name 2:

Contact Name:

Phone Number:        Mobile:

Email address*:    

* By providing this email address, we agree that Cenversa may provide us with information by email regarding our investment.

Business Address

Unit / Street Number:   Street Name:    

Suburb:    State:    Postcode:  Country: 

Postal Address            Same as residential address

PO Box:        

Unit / Street Number:   Street Name:    

Suburb:    State:    Postcode:  Country:

PART C - INVESTOR DETAILS (NON-INDIVIDUAL)
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Credit Card Type: (Visa/Mastercard only)  Visa      Mastercard  

Cardholder Name:      Card Number:

CCV:   Expiry Date:              /

Total Amount Payable (excluding surcharge): $

Cardholder Signature:

PART D - PAYMENT DETAILS

Payment Method

EFT (Receipt Attached)

Credit Card (Please complete details below)

Cheque (Attached)

PART E - ACKNOWLEDGEMENT AND AUTHORISATION

By completing this application form you acknowledge the following:

• Cenversa collects information about each Applicant for the purposes of processing their Application and to administer 
their shareholding in Cenversa. You agree that Cenversa may use this information for that purpose and may disclose 
it to a share registry, the Company’s related bodies corporate, agents, contractors and third party service providers 
(including mailing houses), ASIC and other regulatory authorities. The Corporations Act requires Cenversa to include 
information about shareholders in its members’ register. The information is also used to facilitate distribution of 
payments and for corporate communications with shareholders.

• Cenversa may provide you with information by email regarding your investment.

• You have read the Cenversa Offer Information Statement dated 20 December 2019 in its entirety.

• You agree to the terms and conditions of the offer set out in this Offer Document.

• You agree to becoming a member of Cenversa and to be bound by the Constitution of the Company. A copy of 
Cenversa’s Constitution may be downloaded from Cenversa’s website: www.cenversa.com.au

Name of Investor Name of Investor

Investor Position/Title Investor Position/Title

Date: (dd/mm/yyyy) Date: (dd/mm/yyyy)

Signature Signature
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CENVERSA’S SHARE REGISTRY IS
NOW ONLINE WITH REGISTRY DIRECT

IT’S FREE!

Registry Direct makes managing your Cenversa Ltd Share account 
simpler, smarter and more efficient.
Registry Direct delivers online, cloud-based access, with no software to install, you will have instant access 
from any device – Mac or PC, iPhone or Android.

Transparency and clarity
Full details of your 
shareholdings managed 
through Registry Direct,
accessible whenever and 
wherever you want, with 
read-only access available 
for your accountants and 
advisers.

Manage your payments
Set-up and change your 
bank account details, to 
receive your  distribution 
payments on time, every 
time.

Get involved
Contribute to company 
decisions, through online 
voting, check important 
events through the 
calendar and view company 
communications and 
notices.

Who needs forms?
By registering, we give you 
the power of adding, or 
changing your details online 
without having to fill out 
numerous forms by hand.

If you have any questions, please do not hesitate to contact Tracey West
on 02 9679 5702 or send an email to shareholders@cenversa.com.au

How will the online account 
save me time?   
The online registry allows you to view and 
manage your details at any time, including to:

• Check your holding balance

• Update your address details

• Advise your banking details for direct 
crediting

• Provide your tax file number and ABN

• Read only access available for your 
accountant or adviser

• View share history 

• Download your tax statements

How do I access my account?
If you haven’t already saved yourself time 
by setting up your online account, we invite 
you to activate your account now by emailing 
shareholders@cenversa.com.au to request 
your email address activation. Once you 
receive your email, you can then simply click 
on the link to activate your account (once you 
enter a secure pin code sent to your mobile 
phone).

Don’t waste any more valuable time!  
Register your FREE account today.

Thanks again for being a Cenversa 
shareholder.
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